
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

June 03, 2014 9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Phil Boyum 
  

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 05-20-2014 Council Minutes 
b) 05-20-2014 Executive Session Minutes 
 

B) Notification of alcohol license application: 
       a) Licensee:  Hazrat Rehman 
           DBA:  GR Comrade LLC (Formerly Mannys/Quality Inn) 
           Location:  230 South Main Street 
          Type of Alcohol License:  Pouring Beer, Wine & Liquor 
          Type of Business:  Restaurant 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to award a three year banking service contract for the City of 

Statesboro to BB&T. 
 

6. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Specific Reinsurance Immediate 
Reimbursement Amendment Treaty between the City of Statesboro and Standard Life 
and Accident Insurance Company. 
 

7. Consideration of a Motion to approve a change order for Cawana Rd/Railroad Bed Rd 
water/sewer project to the council agenda.   

 
8. Other Business from City Council 

 
A) Human Resource Director Jeff Grant will update Council on the Fitness before ‘15 

Program. 
 

9. Public Comments (General) 
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to approve the purchase of Real Estate. 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 

May 20, 2014 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on May 20th, 2014 at 5:15 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Will Britt, 
Phil Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were City Manager 
Frank Parker, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, City Engineer Robert 
Cheshire and Director of Community Development Mandi Cody. 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan Moore 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was given by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations  
 

A) Mayor Moore will recognize the 100th Anniversary of the Magnolia Missionary 
Baptist Church 

 

Mayor Moore recognized the Magnolia Church for its 100th anniversary by reading the highlights 
of a proclamation that proclaims May 18, 2014 as “Sweet Magnolia Day”. 
 

B) Proclamation presented to the City of Statesboro Public Works divisions 
recognizing the week of May 18-24, 2014 as "Public Works Week". 

 

Mayor Moore presented a proclamation to Senior Assistant Engineer Jason Boyles to recognize 
the week of May 18-24, 2014 as “Public Works Week”. 

 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 

 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 05-06-2014 Council Minutes 
b) 05-06-2014 Executive Session Minutes 
c) 05-06-2014 Council Work Session Minutes 

 

B) Notification of alcohol license application: 
a)  Licensee:  Clayton Edward Clearman 

           DBA:  Fuzzy's Taco Shop 
           Location:  1302 Statesboro Place Circle 

    Type of Alcohol License:  Pouring Beer, Wine & Liquor 
    Type of Business:  Restaurant 



 
 

 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the consent 
agenda in its entirety. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 

Consideration of a Motion to set a date for a work session to discuss the changes to Chapter 
6 (Alcohol) of the City of Statesboro Ordinances 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to set the date of a 
work session for June 3rd, 2014 to discuss the changes to Chapter 6 (Alcohol) of the City of 
Statesboro Ordinances. Council also asked that the agenda for this regular Council meeting be    
confined only to items that were absolutely necessary. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis 
and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 

 
Consideration of a Motion to approve RESOLUTION 2014-07:  A Resolution to adopt the 
third amendment to the fiscal year 2014 budget for each fund of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as expenditures/expenses, 
adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and prohibiting expenditures or 
expenses from exceeding the actual funding appropriated. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve 
RESOLUTION 2014-07:  A Resolution to adopt the third amendment to the fiscal year 2014 
budget for each fund of the City of Statesboro, Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in 
each budget as expenditures/expenses, adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and 
prohibiting expenditures or expenses from exceeding the actual funding appropriated.  
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to set the Public Hearing for the FY2015 Budget for Thursday 
June 5, 2014 at 4:00 pm in the Council Chambers at City Hall. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the motion 
to set the Public Hearing for the FY2015 Budget for Thursday June 5, 2014 at 4:00 pm in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
  

Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-08: A Resolution of the Mayor and 
Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia to authorize the execution of an ISDA Credit 
Support Annex, a JP Morgan March 2013 Bilateral Dodd-Frank agreement, and to 
authorize and adopt certain policies and procedures for swap transactions in 
compliance with the Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve 
Resolution 2014-08: A Resolution of the Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia 
to authorize the execution of an ISDA Credit Support Annex, a JP Morgan March 2013 



 
 

Bilateral Dodd-Frank agreement, and to authorize and adopt certain policies and procedures 
for swap transactions in compliance with the  Wall Street Transparency and Accountability 
Act. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
  
Consideration of a Motion to approve award of a contract to Sikes Brothers Inc. for 
the resurfacing of several city streets.  Sikes Brothers' bid was in the amount of 
$667,403.20, based on unit price extensions, however, the Engineering Department requests 
approval to spend up to the budgeted amount of $673,845.95 in order 
to resurface additional street mileage. The cost for additional work to be based on 
contractor’s unit bid prices.  Improvements will be paid for through a combination of 
Georgia Department of Transportation LMIG funds ($209,567.95) and 2007 SPLOST 
funds ($464,278.00).   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to award a contract 
to Sikes Brothers Inc. for the resurfacing of several city streets. Councilman Britt, Boyum, 
Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to retro-fit an existing refuse truck with a 
new hoist system to Consolidated Disposal in the amount of $48,387.00 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to award a contract to retro-
fit an existing refuse truck with a new hoist system to Consolidated Disposal in the amount of 
$48,387.00. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to paint the exterior of City Hall and the 
Drummer Building to Melton Painting in the amount of $38,300.00. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to award a contract to 
paint the exterior of City Hall and the Drummer Building to Melton Painting in the amount of 
$38,300.00. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 

 
Motion to award the purchase of an F-350 cab and chassis from Wade Ford in the amount 
of $24,592.00 and to surplus an existing 2001 cab and chassis truck (VIN# 
1FDWF36SX1EB12629) 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to award the purchase 
of an F-350 cab and chassis from Wade Ford in the amount of $24,592.00 and to surplus an 
existing 2001 cab and chassis truck (VIN# 1FDWF36SX1EB12629). Councilman Britt, Boyum, 
Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase contract of refuse containers to Lewis 
Steel in the amount of $106,500.00 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum   to award the purchase 
contract of refuse containers to Lewis Steel in the amount of $106,500.00. Councilman Britt, 
Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 
vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to appoint a voting delegate for the 2014 GMA Annual 
Convention in Savannah  
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to appoint Mayor Jan 
Moore as the voting delegate and the flag carrier for the 2014 GMA Annual Convention in 
Savannah. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the motion. 
The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
   
Other Business from City Council 
 

A) Notice to City Council that the City of Statesboro has received the 2014 update 
of the Service Delivery Strategy from Bulloch County 

City Manager Frank Parker gave notice to Council that the City of Statesboro has received the 
2014 update of the Service Delivery Strategy from Bulloch County. He also stated a copy of the 
plan would be provided to Mayor and Council for their review. 
 
Mayor Moore asked City Engineer Robert Cheshire about the building that is owned by the City 
and County located on Highway 301 North. Mr. Cheshire stated the Georgia State Defense Force 
would like to use the building at no cost which would include free utilities. City Manager Frank 
Parker asked City Attorney Alvin Leaphart to look into the legal aspects of the request and report 
back to Council. 
 
Public Comments (General) 

A) Mrs. Alberta Deal of 327 Donaldson Street would like to address Council 
regarding the noise level of the Compassion Church on South Zetterower Ave. 

 

Mr. and Mrs. George Deal asked Council for help with the loud music that was coming from the 
Compassion Church. Council asked Public Safety Director Wendell Turner and Mayor Pro Tem 
Will Britt to facilitate a meeting between the church and the Deal’s. 

B) Mr. Thomas Ward with Gateway Development Corporation request a Public 
Presentation regarding the proposed Newport Trace Development to be located 
on Lester Road to review the new site plan as requested by City Council and its 
submission of application to the Georgia Department of Community Affairs for 
Low Income Housing Credit and/or HOME Investment Partnership Program 
funding.   

 



 
 

Mr. Ward addressed Council with the changes to the new site plan for the Newport Trace 
Development. He stated the housing units would be for citizens that were 55 years of age and 
older with one to two bedrooms. Britt Bottoms and Jake Hallman from the neighborhood spoke 
against the request for public housing. Susan Jenkins stated traffic would also be an issue. 
Another concern was the value of the property would decrease. Director of Community 
Development Mandi Cody stated if all requirements were met by the developer then a permit 
would be issued for the development to begin construction. 

Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 6:35 p. m. Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to enter 
into an Executive Session. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of 
the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
Councilman Chance and Councilman Lewis left the meeting at the break. 

Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
At 7:25 p.m. Mayor Moore called the meeting back to order with no action taken in Executive 
Session regarding personnel matters. 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to adjourn. 
Councilman Britt, Boyum and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 3-0 
vote. 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:26 p.m. 

 





 

Purchasing 

 

Memo 
 
 
TO:  Frank Parker, City Manager 
  
FROM: Darren Prather, Purchasing Director 
 
DATE: 5-27-2014 
 
Re:  Recommendation—RFP Banking Services Contract 
 
The City of Statesboro issued a request for proposals (RFP) for banking services. These 
services include servicing all City of Statesboro accounts as well as City of Statesboro 
credit and procurement card programs. This contract, if awarded, would be for a three 
year term to begin July 1, 2014. An advertisement was placed per our purchasing 
ordinance and a notice of the RFP was sent to all local banking institutions. A mandatory 
pre-bid was conducted and attended by four (4) local banks. The final submittal produced 
two (2) responses and they are as follows: 
 

1. BB&T 
2. Sea Island Bank 

 
The banks were evaluated by a five (5) member panel in the eight (8) criteria areas of 
customer service ability, innovative products and services, experience with similar 
entities, implementation timeline, experience of personnel assigned, financial stability, 
oral presentations and price. Price was determined based on average monthly activity, 
balances and rebate programs offered—price accounted for twenty percent (20%) of the 
scoring total. Each evaluation member independently scored each bank on a 100 point 
scale. Both banks were invited to present oral presentations and these were factored into 
the scoring as well. At this point, the evaluation committee met to discuss and record the 
individual evaluation results. As a result of these scores, we recommend the City of 
Statesboro’s banking services contract be awarded to BB&T as they were the unanimous 
selection of the evaluation committee.  



ELT – SLAICO Specific Reinsurance Immediate Reimbursement Amendment (08/2005) 

STANDARD LIFE AND ACCIDENT INSURANCE COMPANY 
One Moody Plaza • Galveston, Texas 77550 

 
SPECIFIC REINSURANCE IMMEDIATE REIMBURSEMENT AMENDMENT 

 
Attached to and made a part of the Excess Loss Reinsurance Treaty between City of Statesboro 
(hereinafter “Employer”) and Standard Life and Accident Insurance Company (hereinafter “Reinsurer”). 
Effective: January 1, 2014 – December 31, 2014.  Treaty Number: ESL-1100252. 
 
The Specific Excess Loss Reinsurance is hereby amended as follows: 
 
The Excess Loss Reinsurance Treaty provided by the Reinsurer provides Specific Reinsurance 
Immediate Reimbursement on covered participants that have exceeded the specific deductible and 
satisfied the definition of a “Paid Claim”.  BEST Re and Reinsurer are aware that even with proper 
funding and prudent Plan administration, large individual Plan losses create cash flow stress to the 
Employer.  Under these circumstances BEST Re and Reinsurer are willing to expedite the claims review 
and reimbursement procedure by allowing the Employer the privilege of utilizing BEST Re / Reinsurer’s 
Specific Reinsurance Immediate Reimbursement procedure.  The Specific Reinsurance Immediate 
Reimbursement procedure does not waive or modify any provisions or requirements as set forth in the 
Reinsurer Excess Loss Reinsurance Treaty.  Specific Reinsurance Immediate Reimbursement is subject 
to the following: 
 
a. The request must be for at least $2,500.00. 
b. The request must be submitted at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the Excess Loss Treaty 

Period.  Requests made with less than thirty (30) days prior to the end of the Excess Loss Treaty 
will not be eligible for Specific Reinsurance Immediate Reimbursement.  The request must be 
submitted within 7 days after a claim’s run. 

c. The TPA processes the claim according to the terms and conditions of the applicable Plan 
Document. 

d. All supporting claim documentation as well as proof of payment (i.e. copies of the checks, EOBs, 
check register, paid claims detail listing or any other document showing check dates, check 
numbers and check amount) are forwarded to BEST Re for review. 

e. BEST Re will forward the specific claim reimbursement to the TPA and the TPA will 
simultaneously release payment to providers of service. 

 
This Specific Reinsurance Immediate Reimbursement procedure outlined above replaces and supercedes 
all previous procedures.  Specific Reinsurance Immediate Reimbursement is a privilege offered by BEST 
Re and Reinsurer and may be revoked at any time without prior notice. 
 
Except as expressly stated, nothing herein shall alter or affect any of the provisions of the Treaty 
including any prior amendments, endorsements or riders. 
 
This Amendment is a part of the Treaty and should be attached to it. 
 
This Amendment has been signed as shown below on behalf of the Reinsurer. 
 

STANDARD LIFE AND ACCIDENT INSURANCE COMPANY 

 
SECRETARY 

 



SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02)  

 
 
 

STANDARD LIFE & ACCIDENT INSURANCE COMPANY 
One Moody Plaza • Galveston, Texas • 77550 

(Herein called “The Reinsurer”) 
 

WE, STANDARD LIFE & ACCIDENT INSURANCE COMPANY 
BY THIS TREATY OF EXCESS LOSS REINSURANCE 

 
  TREATY NUMBER:    ESL-1100252   
   
  ISSUED TO:     Statesboro GA, City of      
 
 
agree to pay the Excess Loss Reinsurance benefits provided herein upon receipt of satisfactory written 
proof of loss with respect to the reinsured Employer named above, insofar as such loss relates to the 
self-insured Plan established by the Employer. 
 
The consideration for coverage under this Excess Loss Reinsurance Treaty is the Employer’s application 
and payment of the required premiums as they become due. 
 
This Treaty takes effect on January 1, 2014 (“Inception Date”), which will be the effective date and the 
date of issue.  This Treaty shall end on December 31, 2014 (“Expiration Date”).  All periods indicated in 
this Treaty begin and end at 12:01 A.M. standard time at the office of the Employer. 
 
The provisions and conditions of the pages that follow will form a part of this Treaty as fully as if 
recorded in detail above the signature(s) appearing below. 
 
Signed at the Administrative Office of the Reinsurer, 
 
 
 

 
SECRETARY 

 
PRESIDENT 

 
 
 
 

TREATY CANCELLABLE BY THE REINSURER; NON-RENEWABLE 
 



SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02)  

EXCESS LOSS REINSURANCE 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

SCHEDULE OF EXCESS LOSS REINSURANCE.................................................... ....................... Page 1 
 
COVERAGE PROVISIONS ................................................................................................................. Page 3 
 
DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................................................ Page 3 
 
EXCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY................................................... ................... Page 7 
 
PREMIUM................................................................................................................... .............................. Page 9 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS ..................................................................................................................... Page 10 
 
 Amendment 
 Employee Benefit Plan 
 Payment of Premium 
 Grace Period 
 Claims Administration 
 Duration 
 Group Specifications - Changes 
 Records 
 Loss Provisions 
 Subrogation 
 Legal Action 
 Workers' Compensation Insurance 
 Statements not Warranties 
 Notice and Proof of Loss 
 Limit of Premium Refunds 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 1 

STANDARD LIFE & ACCIDENT INSURANCE COMPANY 
SCHEDULE OF EXCESS LOSS REINSURANCE 

 
 
Employer ("You"):    City of Statesboro        
 
Address:   50 East Main Street, Statesboro, GA 30458         
 

 Inception Date Expiration Date 
 
Treaty Period:    January 1, 2014   December 31, 2014  
 
Expense Incurral Period: Aggregate:  N/A       N/A    
           Specific: 01/01/2014     12/31/2014   
 
Expense Payment Period: Aggregate:  N/A       N/A    
            Specific: 01/01/2014     03/31/2015   
 
 
Actively at Work Provision (waived or applied):   Waived   
 
 
C.   SPECIFIC EXCESS LOSS REINSURANCE 
 
 Reinsurer’s Limit of Liability (Specific Maximum Limit): 
 

(1)  100 % of paid specific losses which are in excess of the Specific Retention Amount, subject to 
a maximum limit per Covered Person of $Unlimited. 
 
(2)  Specific Retention Amount:  $60,000 per Covered Person. 
 

 (3)  Lines of Coverage: [X] Medical [  ] Dental [X] Rx card [  ] Vision 

     [  ] Short Term Disability [  ] Other  
 

D.  SPECIFIC EXCESS LOSS PREMIUM 
 

Specific Premium: 
 Employee Only: $60.77     
 Family:   $156.73    
  
 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 2 

 
 
 
E. CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR 
 
 Name:   Taylor Benefit Resource     
 
 Address:   P.O. Box 6580, Thomasville, GA 31758       
 
Accepted by Employer:  City of Statesboro___________________________ 
 
       
      By: ______________________________ 
 
    Title: ______________________________ 
 
    Date: ______________________________ 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 3 

1. COVERAGE PROVISIONS 
 

A. Aggregate Excess Loss Reinsurance:  The Reinsurer will reimburse You a percentage of 
Covered Benefits paid under Your Plan, subject to all terms and conditions of this Treaty, 
to the extent that such payments are incurred during the Expense Incurral Period, paid 
during the Expense Payment Period and exceed the Aggregate Retention Amount.  The 
Reinsurer's liability to reimburse You is limited to the Aggregate Maximum Limit.  For 
purposes of this provision, Covered Benefits cannot include any amounts that exceed the 
Specific Retention Amount per Covered Person. 
 
The Expense Payment Period, Aggregate Retention Amount, Aggregate Maximum Limit, 
Specific Retention Amount per Covered Person, and the percentage that the Reinsurer 
will reimburse You are shown in the Schedule.  We will pay You as soon as reasonably 
possible after the end of Your Treaty Period, upon receipt of the necessary 
documentation for reimbursement.  We will not make any payments to You unless all 
premiums due hereunder are paid on a current basis. 

 
B. Specific Excess Loss Reinsurance:  The Reinsurer will reimburse You a percentage of 

Covered Benefits paid under Your Plan, subject to all terms and conditions of this Treaty, 
to the extent such payments are incurred during the Expense Incurral Period, paid during 
the Expense Payment Period and exceed the Specific Retention Amount.  The Reinsurer's 
liability to reimburse You is limited to the Specific Maximum Limit. 

 
The Expense Incurral Period, Expense Payment Period, Specific Retention Amount, 
Specific Maximum Limit and the percentage that the Reinsurer will reimburse You are 
shown in the Schedule.  We will pay You any benefits that We have determined are due 
as soon as reasonably possible following receipt of the necessary documentation for 
reimbursement.  We will not make any payments to You unless all premiums due 
hereunder are paid on a current basis. 

 
2. DEFINITIONS 

 
A. ACTIVELY AT WORK (or "Active Work," or "Active Service") -  

The performance of all the regular duties of employment for the Employer on a full-time 
basis (at least 30 hours per week), at normal pay, at the Employer's normal place of 
business.  An Employee will be considered Actively at Work on each day of a regular paid 
vacation or a regular non-working day on which he is not disabled, if he was Actively at 
Work on his last scheduled work day. 
 
If an employee eligible under Your Benefit Plan is not Actively at Work (or if an eligible 
dependent is hospital confined or totally disabled, i.e., unable to perform the normal 
functions and activities of a person of like sex and age in good health) when such person's 
coverage under Your Plan or this Treaty (whichever is later) would otherwise take effect, 
coverage under this Treaty will not become effective until the day next following:  1) The 
employee's return to Active Service; or 2) The end of the dependent's hospital 
confinement or total disability.  The employee or dependent must continue to meet the 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 4 

eligibility requirements of Your Plan in order for such deferred coverage to become 
effective under this Treaty.  No benefits shall be provided under this Treaty for any 
expenses incurred during such non-covered period(s), nor shall any such expenses apply 
toward the Specific Retention Amount or be considered a Covered Benefit for Aggregate 
Excess Loss Reinsurance hereunder. 

 
B. AGGREGATE RETENTION AMOUNT, as shown in the Schedule, is the total amount of 

eligible expenses incurred and paid with respect to all persons covered under Your Plan, 
and will be determined at the end of the Treaty Period by use of the following formula: 

 
i. The total number of employees and their dependent units who are covered under 

Your Plan at the beginning of each month during the Treaty Period will be multiplied 
by the appropriate Retention Factor stated in the Schedule. 

 
ii. The sum of the monthly amounts computed as described in (i) above will be the 

Aggregate Retention Amount; except that the Aggregate Retention Amount will never 
be less than the Minimum Aggregate Retention Amount stated in the Schedule. 

 
iii. This aggregate amount does not include any payments You made to a Covered Person 

that were reimbursable under the Specific Excess Loss Reinsurance, or were in excess 
of the Maximum Amount Per Covered Person chargeable to the aggregate as stated in 
the Schedule of Excess Loss Reinsurance.  The aggregate also does not include:  Plan 
deductibles; Plan coinsurance; expenses or claims not covered under the terms of the 
Plan Document; expenses reimbursable from any other source; or costs of claim 
administration or litigation. 

 
iv. If this Treaty terminates prior to the end of Treaty Period, the Minimum Aggregate 

Retention Amount will not be pro-rated. 
 

 
 C. AGGREGATE RETENTION AMOUNT FACTOR: 
 

i. EMPLOYEE-ONLY RETENTION FACTOR:  The amount specified in the Schedule of 
Excess Loss Reinsurance that is multiplied by the number of Covered Employees 
when determining the Aggregate Retention Amount. 

 
ii. FAMILY RETENTION FACTOR:  The amount specified in the Schedule of Excess 

Loss Reinsurance that is multiplied by the number of Covered Employees with 
Covered Dependents when determining the Aggregate Retention Amount. 

 
iii. COMPOSITE RETENTION FACTOR: The amount specified in the Schedule of Excess 

Loss Reinsurance which is multiplied by the number of Covered Employees with or 
without Covered Dependents when determining the Aggregate Retention Amount. 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 5 

D. CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR means the individual or entity named in the Schedule of 
Excess Loss Reinsurance to perform claim processing under Your Plan on Your behalf and 
which has been approved to do so by the Reinsurer. 

 
 E. COVERED BENEFITS, for the purposes of reimbursement under this Treaty, are  

limited to the expenses incurred by a Covered Person that are: 
 

i. covered under the terms of Your Plan, taking into account all of the exclusions and 
limitations in Your Plan; and 

 
ii. incurred during the Expense Incurral Period; and 
 
iii. paid during the Expense Payment Period; and 
 
iv. included in the Covered Benefits shown in the Schedule; and 
 
v. not otherwise limited or excluded by this Treaty. 

 
  It should be noted that Covered Benefits may not always be the same for Specific and  

Aggregate coverage; see Schedule for details.  Covered Benefits do not include claim 
administrative fees, consulting fees, claim investigative expenses, legal fees, or other 
expenses related to litigation issues. 

 
 F. COVERED PERSON 
 

(a) Means an employee or an employee's dependent who meets the eligibility 
requirements as set forth under Your Plan.  The employee or dependent must not 
have incurred medical expenses the lesser of 50% of the Specific Retention 
Amount shown on the Schedule page or $30,000 during the 12 months 
immediately preceding the effective date of this Treaty without being disclosed to 
and approved by the Reinsurer. 

 
(b) If the Actively At Work provision applies as shown in Schedule, then the Covered 

Person must be Actively At Work on the effective date of this Treaty.  If the 
employee is not Actively At Work on the effective date and the Actively At Work 
provision applies, then coverage will not be effective until the employee or 
dependent satisfies the Actively At Work provisions. 

 
(c) If the Actively At Work provision is waived on the Schedule page, then the 

Covered Person must satisfy (a) above. 
 
 G. ELIGIBLE EXPENSE means a charge that is covered and payable under Your Plan. 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 6 

 H. EXPENSE INCURRAL PERIOD, as shown in the Schedule, means the period of time  
during which an expense covered under Your Plan must be incurred by a Covered Person 
to count as a Covered Benefit under this Treaty.  The Schedule may include an additional 
Run-In Expense Incurral Period preceding the start of the Treaty Period.  An expense is 
incurred on the date the service, treatment, supply, or facility is provided. 

 
 I. EXPENSE PAYMENT PERIOD, as shown in the Schedule, means the period of time  

during which payment must be made for expenses covered under Your Plan in order to 
satisfy a deductible or receive reimbursement under this Treaty.  An expense is 
considered paid on the date the check is issued, provided it is mailed and paid upon 
presentation. 

 
 J. MAXIMUM AMOUNT FOR RUN-IN CLAIMS, if any as shown in the Schedule,  

means the maximum allowable claim amount applied towards the Aggregate Retention 
Amount that was incurred during the Expense Incurral Period and paid during the 
Expense Payment Period.   

 
K. MINIMUM AGGREGATE RETENTION AMOUNT means the minimum amount of 

aggregate Covered Benefits that must be paid under Your Plan before any benefits 
become payable under the Aggregate Excess Loss Reinsurance provisions of this Treaty.  
This amount is specified in the Schedule of Aggregate Excess Loss Reinsurance, and the 
full amount will apply even if coverage terminates during the Treaty Period. 

 
L. PAID CLAIM means charges that are covered and payable under Your Plan, that have 

been adjudicated and approved, with check or draft issued and placed in the U.S. mail, for 
which sufficient funds are on deposit on the date said check or draft is issued, and which 
said check or draft is paid upon presentation. 

 
M. PLAN means Your self-funded employee benefit plan approved by the Reinsurer.  A copy 

of Your Plan Document is attached to Your Application for Excess Loss Reinsurance and 
is made a part of this Treaty. 

 
N. PLAN DOCUMENT means a detailed written description of the Employer’s self-funded 

Plan. 
 
 O. REINSURER means Standard Life and Accident Insurance Company. 
 

P. SCHEDULE means the Schedule of Excess Loss Reinsurance showing the various Excess 
Loss Reinsurance features for the Employer and which is made a part of this Treaty. 

 
 Q. YOU or YOUR means the reinsured Employer named in the Schedule. 
 
 R. WE or OUR or US means Standard Life and Accident Insurance Company. 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 7 

3. EXCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY: 
 

A. The Reinsurer's liability under this Treaty is limited to reimbursement of claims amounts 
properly paid to, or on behalf of, Covered Persons under Your Plan, and for those 
Covered Benefits stated in the Schedule. 

 
B. The Reinsurer will not be liable for claims amounts paid which are not covered under the 

terms and provisions of Your Plan. 
 
C. The Reinsurer will not be liable for claims amounts paid which can be recovered from or 

attributed to any other plan of coverage, or recovered by applying the coordination of 
benefits provisions of Your Plan. 

 
D. The Reinsurer will not be liable for punitive, exemplary or consequential damages and 

You shall hold the Reinsurer harmless from any damages of any kind which are not caused 
by the Reinsurer's own acts or omissions. 

 
E. The Reinsurer will not be liable for claims amounts paid for the care or treatment of 

sickness or injury which is caused by war, declared or undeclared, or any act of war; while 
in the act of committing a felony; or for services payable under government programs or 
private medical research programs. 

 
F. The Reinsurer will not be liable for benefits paid under Your Plan for services not 

medically necessary. 
 
G. The Reinsurer will not be liable for benefits paid under Your Plan for charges in excess of 

"usual and customary" fees. 
 
H. The Reinsurer will not be liable for benefits paid under Your Plan for mental and 

nervous/alcohol and drug related expenses in excess of the lifetime maximum shown on 
the Schedule page. 

 
I. The Reinsurer will not be liable for expenses incurred while Your Plan is not in force with 

respect to any otherwise Covered Person. 
 
J. The Reinsurer will not be liable for liability assumed by You under any contract, service 

agreement or arrangement other than Your Plan. 
 
K. The Reinsurer will not be liable for any expense incurred due to or as a consequence of 

noncompliance with any applicable state or federal statute or regulation. 
 
L. The Reinsurer will not be liable for expenses incurred as a result of accidental bodily 

injury or sickness arising out of or in the course of any occupation or employment for 
wage or profit, or for which the Covered Person is entitled to benefits under any 
workers’ compensation or occupational disease policy, whether or not any such policy is 
actually in force. 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 8 

 
M. The Reinsurer will not be liable for any costs of claim administration under Your Plan, for 

any payments or services provided by the Claims Administrator, or for consulting fees or 
litigation costs. 

 
N. The Reinsurer will not be liable for expenses incurred as a result of radioactive 

contamination or the hazardous properties of nuclear material. 
 
O. The Reinsurer will not be liable for expenses incurred prior to the Inception Date of the 

Treaty Period and/or Expense Incurral Period of this Treaty. 
 
P. The Reinsurer will not be liable for benefits paid under Your Plan for Experimental or 

Investigational Medicine, i.e., equipment, drugs or dosages, devices, services, supplies, 
tests or medical treatment or procedures (generally, individually or collectively called 
“Regimens”) which, when used for treatment of a specific illness or injury, are 
experimental, investigational or oriented toward research.  Experimental or 
Investigational Medicine will not be considered medically necessary. 

 
A drug, device, service, supply, test, or medical treatment or procedure is Experimental 
or Investigational under this Treaty and no benefits will be payable if, at the time it is to 
be used or furnished: 

 
i. The Regimens have not received final approval from the U.S. Food and Drug 

Administration (FDA) for the lawful marketing of the Regimens for the specific Injury 
or Illness to be treated; or 

 
ii. The Regimens have not received the approval or endorsement of the American 

Medical Association (AMA) for the specific injury or illness to be treated; or 
 
iii. The Regimens have not received the approval or endorsement of the National 

Institutes of Health (NIH) or its affiliated institutes for the specific injury or illness to 
be treated; or 

 
iv. The Regimens are to be or are being used or studied in proposed or ongoing clinical 

research or clinical trials as evidenced by an Informed Consent or treating facility’s 
protocol; or are part of a proposed or ongoing Phase I, II, or III clinical trial; or are the 
subject of proposed or ongoing research or studies to determine their dosage, safety, 
toxicity, efficacy, or their efficacy as compared to other means of treatment or 
diagnosis; or 

 
v. The opinion of medical or scientific experts (as reflected in published reports or 

articles in medical and scientific literature; or the written protocol(s) used by the 
treating facility or other facilities studying substantially the same or similar drugs, 
devices, services, supplies, tests, treatments or procedures; or the Informed Consent 
used by the treating facility or other facilities studying substantially the same or similar 
drugs, devices, services, supplies, tests, treatments or procedures) indicates that 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 9 

further studies, research, or clinical trials of the Regimens are necessary to determine 
their dosage, safety, toxicity, efficacy, or their efficacy as compared to other means of 
treatment or diagnosis; or 

 
vi. The Regimens have not been proven effective for the specific injury or illness as of the 

date the treatment is provided. 
 

Any claims amounts paid by Your Plan which are excluded by virtue of the above EXCLUSIONS 
AND LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY will also be excluded from contributing to either the 
Aggregate Retention Amount or Specific Retention Amount of this Treaty. 

 
 
4. PREMIUM:  Specific Excess Loss Premium:  Premiums are payable by You on an installment 

basis.  Each monthly premium shall be computed by multiplying the Specific Premium rate stated 
in the Schedule by the number of respective employees and dependent units who are covered 
under Your Plan at the beginning of each month during the Treaty Period.  The first premium is 
due on the inception date of the Treaty, and subsequent premiums are due on the first day of 
each month thereafter.  The Reinsurer reserves the right to adjust premium rates and/or 
monthly factors if:  a) there is a change in Your Plan’s benefits; b) the Employer’s location 
changes; c) the number of employees varies by more than 20%; d) the nature of the Employer’s 
business changes; or e) prior claims experience submitted by You or Your agent as a basis for 
determining the retention factors under this Treaty is inaccurate. 

 
 Aggregate Excess Loss Premium:  The Deposit Premium shown in the Schedule is payable by You 

on the Inception Date of the Treaty Period.  Premiums are payable at the beginning of each 
month during the Treaty Period, or portion thereof.  Premiums will not be prorated for any 
partial month of coverage; a full month’s premium will be payable for any such period.  The final 
earned aggregate premium, at the end of each Treaty Period, or portion thereof if the coverage 
terminates sooner, will be either the aggregate premium paid to date including the Deposit 
Premium, or the Minimum Premium stated in the Schedule, whichever is greater.  The Minimum 
Premium will be applicable regardless of how long coverage remains in force during the Treaty 
Period.  Any balance due Us after deducting the Deposit Premium from final earned premiums 
will be payable by You within 30 days after the expiration date of the Treaty Period, or portion 
thereof if coverage terminates sooner.  If the Deposit Premium exceeds the larger of the final 
earned premium and the Minimum Premium, the excess will be payable to You within 30 days 
after the expiration date of the Treaty Period, or portion thereof if coverage terminates sooner. 

 
 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 10 

5. GENERAL PROVISIONS: 
 
 A. Amendment 
 

This Treaty may be amended from time to time by mutual consent of You and the 
Reinsurer.  Any such amendment shall be without prejudice to any claim arising prior to 
the date of change.  No agent or other person, except an officer of the Reinsurer has 
authority to waive any conditions or restrictions of this Treaty, or to bind the Reinsurer 
by making any promise or representation or by giving or receiving any information.  No 
change in this Treaty shall be valid unless evidenced by an endorsement to it signed by 
You and by an officer of the Reinsurer. 

 
 B. Employee Benefit Plan 
 

The terms and provisions of Your Plan will be in accordance with that which is in effect at 
the Inception Date of this Treaty.  Your Plan cannot be changed in any way while this 
Treaty in force without the advance written consent of the Reinsurer. 

 
 C. Payment of Premium 
 

You shall remit all premiums either to the Reinsurer at its Administrative Office or to an 
authorized representative of the Reinsurer.  Except as otherwise provided under the 
General Provision "D", this Treaty shall automatically terminate if any premium is not paid 
when due. 

 
 D. Grace Period 
 

If any premium is not paid in full on or prior to its due date, a grace period of 31 days 
following the premium due date shall be granted for the payment of that premium.  This 
Treaty shall continue in full force and effect during the grace period.  You shall be liable to 
the Reinsurer for all premiums remaining unpaid on the date of termination of coverage, 
including premium for the days of the grace period during which coverage remains in 
force.  If You do not pay all due premiums before the end of the grace period, this Treaty 
will automatically cease at the end of such grace period. 
 

 E. Claims Administration 
 
  While this Treaty is in force, You shall employ, at Your own expense, the services of the 

Claims Administrator stated in the Schedule.  The Claims Administrator will be Your 
agent, and will not be considered an agent of the Reinsurer.  The services of the Claims 
Administrator cannot be terminated without the advance written consent of the 
Reinsurer.  Such consent shall only be granted in the event that the Claims Administrator 
is to be replaced by another acceptable to the Reinsurer. 

 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 11 

 F. Duration 
 
 This Treaty will commence on the Inception Date shown in the Schedule.  It will 

terminate and all coverage provided by this Treaty will cease on the earliest of the 
following dates: 

 
i. the Treaty Period Expiration Date shown in the Schedule; 
 
ii. the end of the grace period, if any premium remains unpaid; 
 
iii. the date Your Plan terminates, or the date it changes, except as provided in General 

Provision “B” above; 
 
iv. the first day of any month specified by You in written notice mailed to the Reinsurer, 

provided that such written notice is postmarked prior to the date so specified; 
 
v. the date the services of the Claims Administrator as stated in the Schedule are 

terminated, except as provided in General Provision “E”; or 
 
vi. the date that any of the changes specified in General Provision “G” are made, except 

as otherwise provided therein. 
 
 G. Group Specifications - Changes 
 

You shall notify the Reinsurer in writing not less than 31 days in advance of any change(s) 
of the following nature and will consent to any adjustments to this Treaty that are 
required by the Reinsurer as a consequence of such change(s): 

 
i. A change in the geographical area(s) in which You are located; 
 
ii. A change in the nature of business in which You are engaged; or 
 
iii. An increase or decrease of twenty (20) percent or more in the number of employees 

covered under Your Plan on any premium due date hereunder. 
 
 H. Records - Information to be Furnished 
 

You shall forward or cause the Claims Administrator to forward all information required 
by the Reinsurer in connection with the administration of this Treaty and the 
determination of premiums and payments.  You shall forward or cause the Claims 
Administrator to forward or make available to the Reinsurer for inspection all records 
that have a bearing on the Reinsurance hereunder.  Such records shall be maintained and 
open to the Reinsurer for inspection at any time for up to three years after termination 
of this Treaty. 

 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 12 

The Reinsurer shall not be liable for the fulfillment of any obligations dependent upon 
information to be furnished by You or the Claims Administrator until such information is 
received in a form satisfactory to the Reinsurer.  The Reinsurer reserves the right to 
amend the terms and conditions of this Treaty if incorrect information is furnished and 
the Reinsurer acted to its prejudice by relying upon it. 

 
 I. Loss Provisions 
 

In the event of any reimbursement being claimed under this Treaty, accounting records 
and other written proof of the basis upon which reimbursement is claimed must be 
furnished to the Reinsurer, in a form acceptable to the Reinsurer, within 90 days. 

 
The Reinsurer will reimburse You as soon as reasonably possible after adequate proof of 
loss is received, except that there shall be no payment under the Aggregate Excess Loss 
provision until after the Expiration Date of the Treaty Period, and audits satisfactory to 
the Reinsurer are completed. 

 
 J.  Subrogation 
 

You may be entitled to recover from third parties for payments made to or on behalf of 
persons covered under Your Plan.  If You recover from a third party, the recovered 
amount shall not be used to satisfy any retention requirement under this Treaty. 

 
The Reinsurer may subrogate all Your rights if You fail to prosecute any valid claims 
against third parties and the Reinsurer, as a result, becomes liable to make payments 
under this Treaty.  The remaining amount, if any, will be paid to You. 

 
 K. Legal Action 
 

No action at law or in equity shall be brought to recover on this Treaty prior to the 
expiration of 60 days after written proof of loss has been furnished in accordance with 
the requirements of this Treaty.  No such action shall be brought after the expiration of 
three years after the time written proof of loss is required to be furnished. 

 
If any time limitation of this Treaty with respect to bringing an action at law or in equity 
to recover on this Treaty is less than that permitted by the law of the jurisdiction of issue, 
that limitation is hereby extended to agree with the minimum period permitted by that 
law. 
 

 L. Workers' Compensation Insurance 
 
  Coverage provided under this Treaty applies only to Your Plan of Covered Benefits for 

non-occupational accidents or illnesses.  It is not the intent of this Treaty to provide 
benefits in lieu of Workers' Compensation Insurance. 

 



 

SLAICO ELS-1 (rev. 04/02) 13 

 M. Statements not Warranties 
 

In the absence of fraud, all statements made by You or a Covered Person shall be deemed 
representations and not warranties.  No statement made for the purpose of effecting 
reinsurance hereunder shall avoid such reinsurance or reduce benefits unless a written 
copy of the statement is, or has been, furnished to the Covered Person or his beneficiary. 

 
 N. Notice and Proof of Loss 
 

Written notice of a claim must be given to the Reinsurer when a claim reaches 50% of the 
Specific Retention Amount and/or if required for a specific diagnosis within 20 days of the 
date of the loss for which claim is made, or as soon as is reasonably possible.  Notice 
given by or on behalf of a Covered Person or beneficiary to the Reinsurer (at its home 
office as indicated on the face page) or to any authorized agent of the Reinsurer, with 
enough information to identify the Covered Person, will be deemed notice to the 
Reinsurer. 

 
Written proof of loss must be given to the Reinsurer within 90 days of such loss.  Proof 
may be submitted later, if it was not reasonably possible to submit it within this period.  In 
no event, except in the absence of legal capacity of the claimant, may Proof be submitted 
later than one year from the time it is otherwise required. 

 
 O. Limit of Premium Refunds 
 

Whether premiums were paid in error or otherwise, We will refund only that portion of 
the excess premium that was paid during the 12-month period that preceded the date on 
which We learned of such overpayment. 
 



 

  

 

 
 

Y-Delta, Inc.   

5657 Lakeview Road 

Statesboro, GA 30461 

Phone: 912-587-5839 

Fax-912-587-5495          

  

May 28, 2014 

Re:  Cawana Road Change Order 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

We propose the following for Utility installation to include the following:  

 Installation of Sewer dated 4/23/2014 

Our price for performing this work is stated below: 

 

1 Manholes  3 EA 2,790.42 $8,371.26 

2 8" SDR 26 Pipe  1200 LF 27.10 $32,520.00 

3 Outside Drop  1 EA 4,680.76 $4,680.76 

4 Core Existing Manhole 2 EA 750.00 $1,500.00 

        Total $47,072.02 

 

 Total:  $47,072.02 

 

 

Sincerely, 

Clay Cartee              

Project Manager/ Estimator 


	06-03-2014 Council Agenda
	05-20-2014 Council minutes (1)
	06-2014 alcohol license GR COMRADE LLC
	06-2014 Memo Banking Services Rec
	06-2014 City of Statesboro Advanced Funding Rider
	SECRETARY

	06-2014 City of Statesboro policy
	One Moody Plaza • Galveston, Texas • 77550
	SECRETARY
	PRESIDENT
	STANDARD LIFE & ACCIDENT INSURANCE COMPANY
	C.   SPECIFIC EXCESS LOSS REINSURANCE
	D.  SPECIFIC EXCESS LOSS PREMIUM
	E. CLAIMS ADMINISTRATOR

	06-2014 Cawana Road Change Order Bid Proposal

